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CONSENT ORDER 

This consent order concerns unauthorized air transportation by Classic Designs of Tampa 
Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air Aviation (Classic Designs). Since at least January 1, 2006, 
Classic Designs has engaged in air transportation using a Boeing 727 aircraft without 
holding the requisite economic authority from the Department. This order directs Classic 
Designs to cease and desist from such future ~rnlawfiil conduct and assesses it a 
coinpromise civil penalty of $90,000. 

In addition to applicable Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) safety-related 
requireincnts, in order to engage directly or indirectly in air transportation, a citizen of the 
United States’ is required to hold economic authorit? from the Department pursuant to 

I A “citizen of the United States” includes a corporation organized in the United States that 1 )  meets 
certain specified numerical standards regarding the citizenship of its president, ofticcrs and directors, and 
holders of its voting interest and 2 )  is under tlic actual control of citizens of the United States. 49 U.S.C. 
$ 40 102(a)( IS). 
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Generally, economic authority is granted to large aircraft operators (i.e., operators of aircraft, such 

iis the Boeing 727, that were originally designed to have a maximum passenger capacity of more than 60 
seats or a niaxinintii payload capacity of niore than 18,000 pounds) in the foi-in of a certiticate of public 
convenience and nccessity. Beforc granting economic authority. thc Department must find a carrier to be 
“tit,” which entails a dcterminatioii that the carrier is owned and controlled by U.S. citizens and has 
adequate financial resources, a competent management team, and a positive coinpliance disposition. This 
fitness requirement is a continuing one and the Dcpartment monitors “certificated” carriers to enwrc tlieir 
coinpliance. Ccrtiticated carriers must also meet certain Departmental ecoiioniic I-des, such as liability 
insurance rcquii-enicnts ( 14 CFR Part 205) and cscrow requit-eincnts to protect charterers’ funds and 
cupectations (14 CFR 212.8 m d  380.34). In addition, certificated carriers must also rcccive safety 



2 

49 U.S.C. $ 4 1 I 0 I ,  or an exemption fi-om that provision. “Air transportation” includcs 
the transportation of passengcrs or property by aircraft as a common carrier for 
coinpcnsation between two places in the United States or between a place in the United 
States and a place outside of the United  state^.^ Common carriage, in the context of air 
service, consists of the provision or holding out of transportation by air to the public for 
compcnsation or h iw4 From the standpoint of thc requirements of section 41 10 I ,  the 
holding out of air scrvicc, as well as the actual operation of that service, constitutes 
“engaging” in air tran~portation.~ Under Department enforcement case precedent, 
violations of section 4 I I O 1  also constitute unfair and deceptive practices and unfair 
methods of competition in violation of49  U.S.C. Q 41 712! 

Classic Designs is a citizen of the United States incorporated in Florida and an operator 
of aircraf’t pursuant to 14 CFR Part 125. Classic Designs has never held economic 
authority from the Department. However, since at least January 2006, Classic Designs 
has held out and performed significant common carriage servicc aboard an executive- 
configured Boeing 727 aircraft (N727PX) in contravention of 49 U.S.C. $$  41 101 and 
41 7 12. Specifically, Classic Designs provided ~ingle-entity~ charter air service to a 
number of custoiners, including a rap group and various high net-worth individuals, sonic 
of whom Classic Designs obtained by indirectly holding out the availability of its aircraft 
to the public through third-party air charter brokers.’ 

certification from tlie FAA and comply with the appropriate set of associated operating rules prescribed by 
that agency. 

Large aircraft operators that engage in common carriage without the appropriate DOT and FAA 
authorizations hanii consumers by denying them the level of protection afforded by duly licensed carriers 
that have becn found l i t  by tlie Department and are complying with tlie proper FAA safety regulations. In 
addition, such operators. whose regulatory compliance costs are lower, place duly licensed coninion 
carriers at a competitive disadvantage. 

3 49 U.S C $ $  40102(a)(S), (a)(23), and (a)(25). 

See, e g., Woolwv 11 Ntrtronal Tminc Sufctj B t l ,  993 F.2d 516 (5“‘ Cir 1993) 4 

Prior to 1994, when Title 49 of the United States Code was recodified and simplified, 49 U.S.C. 
$ 41 10 1 stated that no carrier could “engage” in air transportation without appropriate authority. Although 
the wording of section 4 1 101 now states that what is prohibited is “providing” air transportation without 
authority, Congress made clear when it recodified Title 49 that in  doing so it did not intend any substantive 
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cha11gc to the StatLite. Act 0fJu1y 5 ,  1994, Pub. L. 103-272, $ 6(a), 108 Stat. 745, 1375. 

6 See, e.g., P t.irzci@l Air. Swviccs, LLC, ciml Duvid C. Brr-nstrin. Violcitions of49 U.S. C. ~ + ~ $  41 I O 1  
c u r d  4/71?, Order 2006-7- 13 (JuI. 1 1 ,  2006). 

A single-entity charter is a charter for the entire capacity of the aircraft, tlie cost of which is borne 1 

by the charterer and not directly or indirectly by the individual passengers. 

S A nowconinion carrier may not perform cotniiioii carriage operations that result from thc 
mnrkcting cfforts of a third-party, such as another air carricr or an air charter broker, agent, or aftiliatcd 
company. Sce, e.g., Confiwt .dit. Ccrrxo. OK.. 14olulions 4 ’ 4 9  L!S. C. $$ 41 101 citiri 41 712, Ordcr 2005-3- 
39 (Mar. 30, 2005). 



Even assuming that Classic Designs did not indirectly solicit business, its operations 
involved the provision of air transportation to several different entities and, by doing so, it 
engaged in a course of conduct that evinced a willingness to provide passenger air 
transportation to the public, thereby constituting an unlawful holding out of coninion 
carriage via reputation. Although Classic Designs avers that it has not held out in this 
manner, the nuiiiber of customers that Classic Designs served exceeds any reasonable 
interpretation of the boundaries of private carriage for hire under relevant precedent. 
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in mitigation, Classic Designs states its current owner only recently purchased the 
company and did not intend to engage in coininon carriage operations. Classic Designs 
states that its current owner had no prior knowledge of the limits of permissible 
operations pursuant to Part 125 and that it relied strictly on the knowledge of a single 
employee with extensive aviation experience, who was hired to maintain and operate the 
Classic Designs’ aircraft on its behalf. According to Classic Designs, following the 
purchase of the company by its current owner in April 2005, its aircraft did not fly 
pursuant to Part 125 until late 2005. Classic Designs further states that it is a small 
business concern as deiined in 15 U.S.C. $ 632 with one part-time employee. Classic 
Designs asserts that it has no office, telephone, or website and does not have any 
authorked listings of availability in any advertising or trade medium, including aircraft 
literature or trade periodicals. Upon notification from the Department of alleged 
violations, Classic Designs states that it immediately undertook remedial action to satisfy 
the Department’s concerns, including informing third parties that any and all unlawful 
activity of any kind whatsoever is unauthorized and for all persons or entities to cease 
and/or refrain fi-om marketing the aircraft. Furthermore, Classic Designs states that it 
implemented a policy requiring the express authorization of either Classic Designs’ 
president or its owner before any operations may be performed with its aircraft. Lastly, 
Classic Designs states that it has sought guidance from the Department and agreed to 
conduct any fbture operations in strict accordance with Departmental requirements. 

Thc Office of Aviation Enforcement and Proceedings (Enforcement Office) views 
seriously the violations of the Department’s licensing requirements by Classic Designs of 
Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air Aviation. After a careful examination of all of the 

<) A holding out of cotninon carriage occurs when a carrier engages in a course of conduct such that 
it gains a reputation for having a willingness to serve tlie public. See, e.g., Woolsey, 993 F.2d a t  524 n.24; 
Sj,or-l.sJ(.f, LLC: Violufions of‘ 49 U.S.C. $$ 41’101 mu‘ 41712, Order 2003-12-23 (Dec. 29, 2003) 
Ititcr-continc.ntu1, U.S.. Inc.., Enfhlwenicnt Pi.oceeding, 4 1 C A B .  583, 60 1 ( 1965). 

In what it temicd “a close onc,” the CAB, which held jurisdiction over aviation licensing matters 
prior to the Department, deemed as private certain air set-vice operations by Part 125 operators Zantop 
International Airlines (Zantop) and Air Traffic Service Corporation (ATSC) that involved transporting 
cargo pursuant to contracts with the three major American automobile manufacturers, plus a tlc mininziis 
level of non-automotive related traffic. Aiitoniotiiv Cargo /n~,c.vtih.ntion, 70 C.A.B. 1540, I554 ( 1  976). 
Aside from the limited number of customers served by Zantop and ATSC, the CAB’S decision i n  this case 
appeared predicated substantially on the fact that, at tlie time, duly licensed coininon carriers had ‘ho 
meaningful capability” to provide service equivalent to that needed by the “Big ‘Three.” Id. at 1553. 
I oday, by contrast, in the market Classic Designs serves (charter air (ransportation fbr enterk~incrs and high 
net-worth individuals), there are numerous duly liceiised coiiiinon carriers capable of providing air 
transportation service equivalent to that \vhich Classic Designs provides. 

t o  

- .  
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available inforniation, including that provided by the carrier, the Enforcement Office 
continues to believe that enforcement action is warranted. In this connection and in order 
to avoid litigation, the Enforcement Office and Classic Designs of Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a 
Bell Air Aviation have reached a settleinent of this matter. Without admitting or denying 
the violations described herein, Classic Designs of Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air 
Aviation agrees to the issuance of this order to cease and desist from future violations of 
49 U.S.C. $ 3  41 101 and 41712 by engaging in coininon carriage directly or indirectly, 
and to an assessment of $90,000 in compromise of potential civil penalties otherwise 
assessable. Of this total amount, $45,000 shall be paid under the terms described below. 
The remaining $45,000 shall be suspended for one year following the date of issuance of 
this order and then forgiven, unless Classic Designs of Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air 
Aviation violates this order’s cease and desist or payment provisions, in which case the 
entire unpaid amount shall become due and payable iinniediately and Classic Designs of 
Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air Aviation may be subject to further enforcement action. 
This compromise is appropriate in view of the nature and extent of the violations in 
question and serves the public interest. Moreover, it creates a deterrent to future air 
transportation operations without appropriate economic authority by Classic Designs of 
Tarnpa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air Aviation, as well as by other similarly situated persons or 
other entities. 

This order is issued under the authority contained in 49 CFR 1.57a and 14 CFR 385.15. 

ACCORD IN G LY, 

1. Based on the above discussion, we approve this settlement and the provisions of the 
order as being in the public interest. 

2. We tind that Classic Designs of Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air Aviation, violated 49 
U.S.C. 6 41 101, as described above, by engaging in air transportation without appropriate 
economic authority. 

3. We tind that by engaging in the conduct described in paragraph 2, above, Classic 
Designs of Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air Aviation engaged in an unfair and deceptive 
practice and an unfair method of competition in violation of 49 U.S.C. 3 41 7 12. 

4. We order Classic Designs of Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air Aviation and all other 
entities owned or controlled by, or under common ownership with Classic Designs of 
Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air Aviation, and their successors and assignees to cease and 
desist fiom further similar violations of49  U.S.C. $ $  41 101 and 41712. 
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5. We assess Classic Designs of Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air Aviation a compromise 
civil penalty of $90,000 in lieu of civil penalties that might otheiwise be assessed for the 
violations described in ordering paragaphs 2 and 3 above. Of this total amount, $15,000 
shall be due and payable on January 2,2007, $15,000 shall be due and payable on April 2, 
2007, and $15,000 shall be due and payable on July 2, 2007. The remaining $45,000 
shall be suspended for 12 months following the date of issuance of this order and then 
forgiven unless Classic Designs of Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air Aviation violates this 
order's cease and desist or payment provisions, in which case the entire unpaid amount 
shall become due and payable immediately and Classic Designs of Tampa Bay, Inc., d/b/a 
Bell Air Aviation may be subject to additional enforcement action. Failure to pay the 
penalty as ordered shall also subject Classic Designs of Tanipa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air 
Aviation to the assessment of interest, penalty, and collection charges under the Debt 
Collection Act and to possible enforcement action for failure to comply with this order. 

6. We order Classic Designs of Tainpa Bay, Inc., d/b/a Bell Air Aviation to pay the 
compromise civil penalty assessed in ordering paragraph 5,  above, by wire transfers 
through the Federal Reserve Coininunications System, commonly known as "Fed Wire," 
to the account of the U.S. Treasury. The wire transfers shall be executed in accordance 
with the instructions contained in the Attachment to this ordcr. 

This order will become a final order of the Department ten days after its service date 
unless a timely petition for review is filed or the Department takes review on its own 
initiativc. 

BY: 

ROSALIND A. KNAPP 
Deputy General Counsel 

(SEAL) 

An elcctroriic version qf this docunzcizt is available on the World Wide Web at 
&tJ :/ d 1111 s. d 0 t. g o  v 


